

Hidden Tides: IUU Fishing and Regional Security Dynamics for India

Ajay Kumar and Charukeshi Bhatt

Hidden Tides: IUU Fishing and Regional Security Dynamics for India

Ajay Kumar and Charukeshi Bhatt

This publication was produced under Carnegie India's Technology and Society Program. For details on the program's funding, please visit the Carnegie India website. The views expressed in this piece are solely those of the authors.

© 2025 Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. All rights reserved.

Carnegie does not take institutional positions on public policy issues; the views represented herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of Carnegie, its staff, or its trustees.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from Carnegie India or the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Please direct inquiries to:

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Publications Department 1779 Massachusetts Avenue NW Washington, D.C. 20036 P: + 1 202 483 7600 F: + 1 202 483 1840 CarnegieEndowment.org

Carnegie India Unit C-4, C-5 & C-6, Edenpark, Shaheed Jeet Singh Marg New Delhi – 110016, India P: +011 4008687 CarnegieIndia.org

This publication can be downloaded at no cost at CarnegieIndia.org

Contents

introduction	
Scope of the Problem: Economic Costs and Regional Vulnerabilities	2
China's IUU Fishing Operations: A Security Threat in the Indian Ocean	4
An Analysis of the International Legal Framework Relating to IUU Fishing	6
India's Deep Sea Fishing Opportunity	11
India's Preparedness Against IUU Fishing in the IOR	11
Way Forward and Suggestions	14
Conclusion	18
About the Authors	19
Notes	21
Carnegie India	29

The world's oceans are witnessing a continuous growth in illegal, unreported, and unregulated (IUU) fishing. Chinese fishing fleets, in particular, are emerging as a significant threat contributing to this global challenge. While India recognizes the gravity of this global issue, IUU fishing has yet to receive the level of priority it arguably deserves within the country's economic and security strategy.¹ A comprehensive study on the scale and implications of IUU fishing for India is therefore essential to spotlight this pressing challenge.

This article examines the scale and impact of Chinese IUU fishing operations globally and identifies the nature of the challenge posed by IUU fishing in the Indian Ocean Region (IOR). It also investigates why existing maritime law and international frameworks have struggled to address this growing threat. By highlighting the gaps in current legal frameworks and regional cooperation mechanisms, this article uncovers why IUU fishing persists despite international efforts to combat it. This article also offers suggestions for India to prepare to combat this challenge in its exclusive economic zone (EEZ) and across the IOR.

Introduction

IUU fishing is widely recognized as a severe threat to the sustainable management of ocean resources. It undermines food security and disrupts fragile marine ecosystems. The unchecked spread of IUU fishing depletes fish stocks, jeopardizing the livelihoods of coastal communities that rely on these resources. This exploitation is often facilitated by complicity or neglect by local governments that fail to enforce regulations effectively or turn a blind eye due to corruption or political pressure. Unlike the extraction of physical resources, like timber or minerals, that are visible and easily monitored, IUU fishing occurs at sea, making

it difficult to detect and track. The huge expanse of the sea makes it nearly impossible for any state to continuously monitor all its waters. The challenge extends beyond the sovereign rights of coastal states to the high seas, where enforcement mechanisms are minimal, and therefore, challenges are even bigger. Beyond these economic and environmental impacts, IUU fishing poses a strategic challenge for coastal states worldwide.² Its ties to organized crime, like piracy and smuggling of drugs and arms, further complicate global maritime security, undermine law and order on the high seas, and intensify the overall security risk.

Various national, regional, and international bodies, including the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the International Maritime Organization (IMO), and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), provide definitions for IUU fishing.³ These definitions subsume different kinds of unsanctioned fishing practices.

- Illegal fishing involves activities that break laws and regulations established by either national governments or international bodies. This includes fishing in a country's waters without permission or operating outside agreed conservation measures on the high seas.
- Unreported fishing includes non-disclosure and inaccurate reporting of fish catch to relevant national or regional authorities, such as regional fisheries management organizations (RFMOs). This lack of transparency can mask overfishing and jeopardize conservation efforts by disrupting effective monitoring of fish populations.
- Unregulated fishing occurs in areas or for fish stocks where no specific management measures exist, often involving vessels without nationality or from countries that are not part of an RFMO. Such fishing can disregard established conservation standards, threatening marine biodiversity, particularly in areas not covered by an RFMO's jurisdiction or oversight.

Scope of the Problem: Economic Costs and **Regional Vulnerabilities**

Independent studies estimate that global economic gains from IUU fishing range between \$9 billion and \$17 billion annually, while economic losses for legitimate trade are far more staggering, projected at \$26 billion to \$50 billion.⁴ While losses vary between countries, developing nations particularly bear the brunt. A 2022 report by the Financial Transparency Coalition highlights losses nearing \$11 billion in African countries, \$4 billion in Indonesia, and \$2 billion in Argentina.⁵ These figures highlight the significant financial toll of IUU fishing in vulnerable regions.

Even from a sustainability standpoint, IUU fishing has done tremendous harm in some regions. It was estimated in 2013 that IUU fishing accounted for approximately 20 percent of the total global fish catch.⁶ A 2012 analysis highlighted the alarming situation in regions like the Indian Ocean and along the West African coast, where over 50 percent of fisheries had already been overexploited.⁷ Over a decade later, and with IUU activities on the rise, the condition is expected to be much worse. Reports from West Africa and the South American coast indicate that IUU fishing is a widespread issue impacting diverse parts of the globe.8 For example, off Ecuador's coast near the Galapagos Islands—a marine world heritage site approximately 99 percent of the fishing activity in 2020 was done by vessels engaged in IUU fishing.

The growth of IUU fishing activities has prompted international efforts to thoroughly study the issue, focusing on the regions impacted and the actors involved. One such initiative is the IUU Fishing Risk Index, which provides a comprehensive risk-based ranking of countries and regions vulnerable to IUU fishing. The 2023 index reveals heightened vulnerability across Asia and the Indian Ocean, underscoring a persistent and escalating threat in these regions.9 Asia was ranked the most susceptible to IUU fishing in 2023, alongside the Western Indian Ocean.

More recent studies have noted growing Chinese involvement in IUU fishing-related activities. The scale of the Chinese distant water fishing fleet is well known, with many public accounts confirming it to be operating the world's largest distant water fishing fleet, with a substantial number of its approximately 17,000 trawlers reportedly engaged in IUU fishing activities. 10 Consistently ranked as the worst IUU fishing offender from 2019 to 2023, China's footprint in illegal fishing is substantial. The 2022 Financial Transparency Coalition study revealed that Chinese companies control eight of the top ten corporations involved in IUU fishing operations globally.¹¹

Overfishing in the South China Sea has caused significant ecological damage. Experts estimate that up to 90 percent of large fish stocks in the region have been depleted since 2000, largely due to Chinese fishing operations.¹² As marine resources in these areas dwindle and global demand for seafood continues to grow, the risk of IUU fishing activities extending into the IOR becomes more pressing—an eventuality that India must prepare for.

India is not oblivious to the rising presence of Chinese research vessels in the IOR, with the Navy actively tracking their movements.¹³ While these vessels are officially categorized as scientific research ships, their dual-use nature warrants closer scrutiny, as they may serve broader strategic interests.¹⁴ In particular, the increasing number of fishing vessels operating near India's EEZ could be linked to IUU fishing activities in the region. With the depletion of marine resources in the South China Sea, the presence of Chinese vessels in the Indian Ocean region is likely to grow.

But how do illegal fishing operations translate into security challenges? What security risks do Chinese IUU fishing vessels pose in the IOR? The next section answers these questions.

China's IUU Fishing Operations: A Security Threat in the Indian Ocean

Chinese presence has grown markedly in the IOR, with annual deployments increasing from 300 vessels in previous years to nearly 450 in 2019.¹⁵ While comparable annual figures for 2020 to 2024 are not available, news reports point to the presence of at least six Chinese war vessels in the IOR at any given time, in addition to the many fishing and research vessels.¹⁶ There have also been reports of Chinese underwater surveillance networks, consisting of buoys, surface vessels, satellites, and underwater gliders, in the Indian Ocean.¹⁷

This increased vessel presence is alarming against the background of China's now widely accepted and well-documented practice of leveraging part of its fishing fleet as a maritime militia—civilian vessels that double as military auxiliaries trained by the People's Liberation Army (PLA) Navy. 18 These fishing boats potentially serve as China's frontline assets for grey-zone operations in the IOR, equipped with sophisticated surveillance equipment like subsea lasers and cameras, and some also carrying military grade equipment. 19 As confirmed in China's own media, these vessels operate under military command while ostensibly conducting commercial fishing and are tasked with intelligence gathering in international waters.²⁰ This militia routinely harasses and intimidates local fishers within their own EEZs, effectively extending China's maritime power projection.²¹ Even when not acting as militias, China's seemingly non-strategic fishing fleet, heavily subsidized through government support for fuel, shipbuilding, and the construction of new vessels, often serves a dual purpose.²²

Data collected by Chinese dual-purpose fishing vessels engaged in surveillance, reconnaissance, and ocean bed mapping can support the operations of underwater military assets, posing a significant strategic threat.²³ The presence of these vessels in the IOR, combined with China's access to key ports across the Indian Ocean, secured through economic agreements with littoral states, can strengthen its strategic hold over this vital maritime route.

A growing Chinese presence in the IOR could potentially also engender another challenge. South Asian countries have long grappled with recurring fishing disputes, primarily arising from disagreements over maritime boundaries and access to marine resources.²⁴ These disputes frequently escalate into political and diplomatic standoffs.²⁵ The involvement of coast guards and naval forces, along with the frequent and prolonged detention of fishermen, adds a security dimension to what are essentially resource management challenges.²⁶ Fishing disputes in South Asia are rooted in a mix of local livelihoods, national security concerns, and sensitive maritime boundary issues. Conflict resolution and negotiations in these cases are often influenced by domestic sentiments and the imperative to maintain sovereignty. The presence of Chinese fishing vessels, and by extension, Chinese strategic and economic interests, threatens to complicate bilateral processes of resolution. Chinese operations near disputed or sensitive fishing zones are increasingly seen as involvement in local dynamics,

further straining existing conflict resolution mechanisms.²⁷ This view also finds some resonance with experts from littoral states.²⁸

More broadly, China's IUU fishing has also led to major socio-economic challenges that translate into security challenges for the IOR as a whole. The depletion of resources, for example, of shrimp stocks in Madagascar, has undermined livelihoods in coastal communities.²⁹ In Ghana, artisanal fishers experienced a 40 percent drop in annual income over the past fifteen years.³⁰ This resource erosion drives broader security issues, including smuggling, piracy, and forced migration, as desperate communities face declining opportunities. IUU fishing has also been linked with organized maritime crime. For instance, in Somalia, pirates claim to protect local waters from IUU fishing. Yet, studies reveal that these operations are frequently facilitated by Somali agents, sometimes with government involvement, through the sale of fishing licenses, falsified documents, and onboard security services.³¹

Patterns and Practices

Chinese vessels involved in IUU fishing often follow established patterns and practices observed in operations worldwide. Understanding these strategies can help identify trends in IUU fishing and offer valuable insights relevant to the Indian context.

Foremost, Chinese fishing vessels systematically evade detection. Despite requirements under Regulation 19-1 Chapter V of the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS), 1974, that mandate continuous identification systems operation for ships above 300 tons, these trawlers frequently and deliberately disable their identification transmitters or manipulate them to broadcast false identities and locations. 32 This dark fleet, comprising "phantom vessels," engages in egregious illegal practices, from shark finning to harming endangered marine species in the Northern Indian Ocean.³³ To further obscure their activities, they deploy low-power and sub-standard devices whose weak signals evade satellite detection.34

China also frequently reflags its vessels under the open shipping registries of other coastal states, particularly of those with weak governance and permissive legal systems.³⁵ These states often lack the resources or will to enforce international fisheries conservation and management standards effectively. Such reflagging typically takes place through joint ventures that allow foreign companies to gain access to local fishing resources. Under international guidelines, any country that suspects a vessel of engaging in IUU fishing must report the violation to the flag state for investigation.³⁶ However, many of these flag states are reluctant to probe suspicious vessels, given their economic reliance on the revenues these foreign-flagged fleets bring. This deliberate opacity creates disparities between tracked catch estimates and official reports, severely undermining efforts to combat IUU fishing operations.³⁷

Despite growing alarm, China's IUU fishing activities continue to expand unchecked, exposing critical gaps in international regulatory frameworks. The next section, therefore, examines how recidivist vessels, many of which are from China, circumvent these frameworks and why they remain ineffective against this escalating threat. Rather than offering a comprehensive legal assessment, the focus is on specific breaches by Chinese IUU fishing activities, highlighting loopholes that IUU offenders exploit. Key instruments under review include the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, the International Maritime Organization (IMO), Regional Fisheries Management Organizations (RFMOs), and the Agreement on Port State Measures (PSMA)—the only binding treaty targeting IUU fishing. By analyzing these overlapping jurisdictions, the next section aims to highlight weaknesses at multiple governance levels that enable such violations.

An Analysis of the International Legal Framework Relating to IUU Fishing

United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea

The international legal framework for governing high seas fishing encompasses the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), which serves as the world's primary framework for ocean governance.³⁸ It sets ground rules for how nations should use and protect seas and oceans. At its core, UNCLOS balances the rights of coastal states with freedom of navigation in coastal waters and freedom of nations to use the high seas with their responsibility to protect marine resources.³⁹ Additionally, the UNCLOS, under Articles 55-62 of Part V, defines the rights and responsibilities of coastal states in managing resources within their EEZs, which extend up to 200 nautical miles from the baseline of their territorial sea.⁴⁰ Coastal states may permit other states to utilize resources within their EEZ through mutual agreements, while retaining the authority to enforce conservation measures and regulatory conditions. These include licensing fishermen, vessels, and equipment, requiring fees or compensation, such as financing, technology, or equipment for developing states, and determining species quotas, fishing seasons, and permitted gear or vessel sizes. Similarly, in the high seas, for example, while all nations have the right to fish, they must also work together to ensure fish populations remain sustainable.

However, UNCLOS lacks specific requirements and rules for managing fisheries or regulating fishing practices in the coastal waters and high seas. It delegates this task to member states and other global, regional, or subregional fisheries organizations. Pursuantly, the convention also outlines the scope of its relationship with other specialized organizations, like the IMO, and empowers others, like RFMOs, to develop and enforce specific regulations.⁴¹ Thus, a system is created where broad principles laid out by the UNCLOS are transformed into practical standards and rules for maritime activities.

Consequently, a variety of "soft law" instruments have developed, primarily led by the FAO and supported by the IMO. Key instruments in this framework include the 1993 Compliance Agreement, the 1995 UN Fish Stocks Agreement, the International Plan of Action on IUU Fishing, and the FAO Agreement on Port State Measures. 42

A closer analysis of the UNCLOS reveals its limitations in effectively countering IUU fishing. Foremost, as previously discussed, the fundamental challenge with UNCLOS is that acceding to the Convention does not translate into a firm commitment to implement its norms. Ratification merely signifies a state's formal acknowledgment of the treaty's principles. 43 It does not automatically translate into domestic legislation or enforcement mechanisms. Somalia ratified UNCLOS in 1989, but it does not have proper maritime regulations and enforcement mechanisms. A similar situation is true for Libya, which ratified the agreement in 1982, or Vanuatu in 1991, and many other coastal states. This gap between international commitment and national implementation creates a significant weakness in the UNCLOS's ability to effectively govern maritime behaviour. As noted by experts, "enforcement is a weak point of all international law... marked by an absence of an international equivalent of a police force and the jurisdiction of international courts and tribunals being ultimately always founded on consent."44 Enforcement is also a significant challenge given the vast expanse of the seas. Moreover, unsustainable exploitation often goes unnoticed until after it has occurred, rather than being detected while or before it happens.

Secondly, IUU fishing sometimes occurs in locations vulnerable to exploitation when the site in question is claimed by more than one state's sovereign control or is beyond the control of a single sovereign state. While UNCLOS provides a comprehensive and compulsory dispute settlement mechanism under Part XV, its effectiveness is limited by significant exceptions. Article 297 (2) and (3) of Part XV of the UNCLOS explicitly exempt certain matters related to marine scientific research and fisheries within EEZs from mandatory dispute resolution. The exemption of EEZ fisheries from the full dispute settlement mechanisms under UNCLOS stems from the competing interests among coastal States, distant water fishing nations, and landlocked or geographically disadvantaged States concerning access to and use of ocean resources. This can be understood as a balancing act between recognizing the qualified sovereign rights and discretionary authority of coastal States in managing resources within their EEZ and upholding the principle of equitable utilization of marine resources by other States, as embedded in the Convention's broader legal framework. However, this creates a complex legal landscape allowing States to strategically exclude specific disputes from the settlement mechanism, potentially undermining UNCLOS's ability to effectively resolve fishing-related conflicts.

Thirdly, China's approach to the UNCLOS dispute resolution mechanism raises concerns regarding IUU fishing enforcement. Having employed "salami-slicing" tactics in the South China Sea, China could extend this strategy to fragment fishing-related disputes across different legal forums, thereby diluting the impact of any single resolution.⁴⁵ More fundamentally, its stance towards the UNCLOS dispute resolution mechanism presents a significant obstacle—invoking Article 298 of the UNCLOS, it has declared non-acceptance of the Convention's dispute settlement provisions. 46 This systematic rejection effectively creates a

legal blind spot in addressing Chinese IUU fishing activities, especially when combined with its strategic approach to maritime disputes. To add to this, Chinese strategic engagement with littoral states of the IOR and their dependence on investments by China dissuades them from pursuing any legal contests.⁴⁷

International Maritime Organization (IMO)

The IMO serves as the global standard-setting body for international shipping. It facilitates intergovernmental cooperation on technical maritime matters by providing the machinery for governments to cooperate on regulation and technical practices related to international shipping. It aims to encourage and facilitate the adoption of the highest practicable standards in matters concerning maritime safety, efficiency of navigation, and prevention and control of marine pollution from ships. The IMO also oversees crucial international treaties like the SOLAS 1974 and the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL 1973/78). IUU fishing falls under its subcommittee on IMO instruments implementation. This subcommittee, reporting to both the Maritime Safety Committee and Marine Environment Protection Committee, creates a platform where flag, port, and coastal states converge to address implementation issues. These committees continuously update safety and environmental protection standards, as well as instruments like SOLAS 1974 and MARPOL 1973/78, to maintain comprehensive oversight of maritime activities. This exercise crucially depends on the availability of shipping data, which states are responsible for sharing.

The IMO's role in combating IUU fishing suffers from significant structural weaknesses. Firstly, a fundamental flaw lies in its focus on vessel quality metrics and equipment standards for the identification of vessels engaged in IUU fishing. It is assumed that IUU fishing vessels are inherently substandard, but in reality, many IUU ships are equipped with modern technology and thus stay outside the purview of IMO instruments.⁴⁸ A 2019 incident at Ratnagiri, Maharashtra, offers evidence of these vessels' capabilities. When ten Chinese fishing vessels sought shelter from Cyclone Vayu, Indian Coast Guard inspections unveiled industrial-scale operations: 80,000-tonne storage capacity, 500,000-watt LED lights, and illegal fishing equipment, including squid jigging gear and purse seine nets.⁴⁹

Secondly, the IMO relies on information gathered by the port state through the flag state, which includes data related to technical aspects like vessel standards and maintenance conditions.⁵⁰ This presents a weakness because port state control works best when it supports the oversight of the flag state, not when it tries to replace it. If the flag states do not properly do their job and port states are left to fill the gap, the system becomes less effective. The current framework places the burden of vessel monitoring and verification on the port state in the absence of reliable flag state cooperation.⁵¹ As noted earlier, port states with weak political systems and governance and strained financial conditions are often unable to resist the influence of IUU fishing lobbies, making them susceptible to becoming compliant and passive partners to these activities. This creates an imbalanced and often ineffective surveillance system.

This system's vulnerability is illustrated further by recent developments. India's Directorate General of Shipping's 2023 report shows inspections of eleven vessels from China, twenty-nine from Hong Kong, eighty-eight from Liberia, eighty-nine from the Marshall Islands, and 143 from Panama.52

Liberia, which holds the world's largest vessel registry with approximately 25 percent comprising Chinese vessels, recently renewed a maritime cooperation agreement with China, allowing more Chinese vessels to operate under the Liberian flag.⁵³ In 2020, Liberia conducted its annual safety inspections of vessels, including examining documents and equipment via video communication, raising serious concerns about inspection integrity and standards.⁵⁴

These developments reveal how, in the absence of robust flag state accountability, countries can exploit regulatory gaps to bypass international efforts aimed at reducing IUU fishing. China's growing maritime agreements with financially vulnerable coastal states, particularly in the IOR, further undermine the IMO's ability to enforce effective measures against IUU fishing, highlighting a significant weakness in the global regulatory framework.

Regional Fisheries Management Organizations

Regional Fisheries Management Organizations (RFMOs) are international bodies established through treaties, comprising countries that have shared interests in managing and conserving fish stocks within specific regions. The UNLCLOS contains references to regional bodies for the management of oceanic resources.⁵⁵ There are around seventeen RFMOs in the world, five of which are responsible for managing approximately 91 percent of the world's oceans.⁵⁶ While different in individual structure and mandate, all RFMOs primarily aim to promote cooperation between member states on fisheries issues. Studies have attempted to classify the types of RFMOs based on their specific functions.⁵⁷ One such classification categorizes RFMOs into General, Tuna, and Specialized RFMOs. General RFMOs address the conservation of all marine species in a region, while Tuna and Specialized RFMOs focus on specific species with unique traits, such as migration patterns or breeding seasons, requiring special management approaches.

Though these organizations aim to regulate fishing activities through measures like vessel tracking and setting catch limits, challenges still remain in their effectiveness.

Foremost, RFMOs monitor compliance only for vessels registered under member countries of the specific RFMO. Consequently, vessels flagged by non-member states are not obligated to follow RFMO policies. For instance, Chinese vessels flying the Liberian flag are not subject to the Indian Ocean Tuna Commission (IOTC), a key RFMO in the region, because Liberia is not a party to this RFMO.

Another major shortcoming lies in their decision-making process, which is heavily influenced by political considerations rather than scientific recommendations. Research by organizations working on fisheries management also points to many RFMOs approving catch limits above sustainable levels despite scientific guidance against it.⁵⁸

Fisheries management bodies that rely on onboard observers for data collection have failed to monitor catch levels effectively due to the lack of observers on all vessels.⁵⁹ Many oppose greater observer coverage of vessels, citing the high costs associated with maintaining observer crews on seafaring vessels for extended periods. 60 Some RFMOs also resort to restricting fishing days instead of implementing strict catch limits, a practice that is seen among certain coastal states to allow their specific fish stocks to replenish.⁶¹ For example, Bangladesh bans hilsa fishing for a few days in a year to allow spawning in the breeding season. 62 However, this approach proves particularly vulnerable to exploitation by IUU vessels that can circumvent these restrictions through practices like ghost fishing or "going dark"—essentially disappearing from tracking systems to fish beyond their allocated time limits.⁶³

As a member of four out of the five tuna RFMOs, China has a prominent presence in RFMOs globally.⁶⁴ Since most RFMOs operate on a consensus-based decision-making process, this approach can undermine compliance, as it enables states to obstruct or hinder critical decisions. For example, in 2023, China single-handedly blocked the South Pacific RFMO's attempt to blacklist two Chinese vessels engaged in suspicious activities.⁶⁵ This exemplifies how individual member states can exploit the consensus-based process to shield their vessels from accountability.

The Agreement on Port State Measures

The Food and Agriculture Organization's Agreement on Port State Measures (PSMA) is the first binding international accord aimed specifically at countering IUU fishing. Its primary objective is to prevent vessels involved in IUU fishing from accessing ports, thereby blocking these vessels from landing illegal catches and reducing the incentive to engage in such activities. 66 By restricting IUU-derived fish from entering ports, the PSMA seeks to prevent these products from reaching both national and international markets.

While the PSMA has several desirable provisions, it has notable limitations as well. Firstly, given that presently only seventy-nine countries have signed the PSMA, IUU fish catches may still enter global value chains through ports outside the PSMA. Secondly, it only applies when vessels attempt to access ports outside their flag state. This limitation can be exploited by IUU fishing operations by vessels operating under foreign flags. In the case of China, vessels flagged under foreign states, such as certain African nations, may avoid PSMA restrictions by entering ports within the flag state itself. Furthermore, IUU fishing often intersects with other organized maritime crimes, like smuggling, which complicates efforts to monitor and intercept illegal catches. Fish products sourced through IUU fishing may still find their way into markets through illicit trade channels, limiting the effectiveness of the PSMA.

India's Deep Sea Fishing Opportunity

Indian fisheries represent a powerful economic engine with vast growth potential. The world's twelfth-largest EEZ, with an expanse of 2,372,298 square kilometers, is abundant in groups of finfishes, crustaceans, and molluscs, which are already being harvested in coastal areas.⁶⁷ The Arabian Sea is known as having a high concentration of purple-back flying squid. Despite extensive surveys by national institutes and fisheries bodies to assess the prospects of commercial fishing in the deep sea, the exploitation of marine resources has been limited to traditional coastal waters, leaving vast economic opportunities untapped.⁶⁸ In the recent past, the Government of India has taken steps to enhance deep-sea fishing capabilities among traditional fishermen. Under the 2016 Blue Revolution scheme, the government introduced the "Assistance for Deep Sea Fishing" sub-component in March 2017, providing financial support of up to Rs 80 lakh (approximately \$93,000) per deep-sea fishing vessel.⁶⁹ A total of 918 such vessels were sanctioned under this initiative. Further, the Pradhan Mantri Matsya Sampada Yojana (PMMSY) announced in the budget of 2023-24, inter alia, offers financial assistance to traditional fishers for acquiring and upgrading deep-sea fishing vessels.⁷⁰ However, deep-sea catch still remains a small fraction of India's total fish catch, with over 90 percent coming from areas within 50 metres of depth.⁷¹

While India has yet to fully exploit its deep-sea fishing resources, IUU fishing in the IOR has already depleted stocks in parts of the western Indian Ocean and is steadily increasing across the region. Moreover, unsustainable fishing practices in the Western IOR can have far-reaching impacts on the Indian EEZ due to the interconnected nature of marine ecosystems. Marine life often migrates across vast distances, moving between different territorial waters and EEZs in search of food, breeding grounds, or favourable environmental conditions. When overfishing or IUU fishing occurs in one area, it depletes the population of marine species that might otherwise migrate to or rely on resources in nearby regions. India must recognize this threat and seriously consider its profound implications.

India's Preparedness Against IUU Fishing in the IOR

Monitoring and Surveillance Systems

India has been restructuring its maritime monitoring and surveillance system progressively, especially after the 26/11 Mumbai attacks, following which it mandated the installation of automatic identification systems (AIS) on all vessels above 20 meters.⁷² For smaller vessels below 20 meters, which form a significant portion of the coastal fishing fleet, the

government introduced initiatives to equip them with AIS-based transponders and distress alert transmitters (DAT) to ensure their inclusion in the maritime surveillance grid. The fleet sizes of both the Indian Navy and Coast Guard have also been substantially increased, complemented by an expanded Dornier surveillance aircraft fleet.⁷³ Further, under the Pradhan Mantri Matsya Sampada Yojana (PMMSY), a central government scheme implemented by the Department of Fisheries, 350,000 transponders manufactured by the India Space Research Organisation were set to be distributed to fishermen. Some state governments have started the installation of these transponders. 74 These devices allow constant tracking of fishing boats at sea and enable direct communication with monitoring agencies. This addresses the issue of fishermen using low-quality Chinese transponders that transmit false identities, often creating problems for surveillance operations.⁷⁵ By distinguishing legal fishing activities from illegal ones, these efforts will optimize resources and reduce unnecessary diversions.

However, with around 250,000 fishing boats in India, enforcement could pose a challenge.⁷⁶ Launched in 2020 for a period of five years, with the aim of installing 100,000 transponders in vessels across thirteen union territories and states, the PMMSY has so far only been able to install over 4,000 transponders in vessels across seven states.⁷⁷ Ensuring these transponders remain operational and active is an additional challenge faced by the State governments. Further, the Coastal Security Scheme, launched in 2005, was expanded post-2008.⁷⁸ This centrally sponsored scheme, which covers thirteen coastal states and union territories, aims to strengthen infrastructure for marine policing by establishing coastal police stations, outposts, and jetties. The scheme also provided funds for the procurement of patrol boats and surveillance equipment.

Several statutory provisions have also been implemented in the last few years. The enforcement of the Maritime Zones of India (Regulation of Fishing by Foreign Vessels) Act, 1981, has been strengthened post-2008 to regulate foreign fishing vessels within India's EEZ and ensure compliance with maritime security protocols.⁷⁹ The Indian Coast Guard (ICG) Act was amended in 2019, authorizing the ICG to board and inspect vessels and detain offenders suspected of engaging in illegal activities, including smuggling, piracy, or unauthorized fishing. 80 The Indian Anti-Maritime Piracy Bill was passed by the Parliament in 2022 to address the challenge of piracy on the high seas.⁸¹ The Act empowers personnel aboard Indian Navy warships, Coast Guard officials, and authorized officers from central or state governments to arrest individuals or seize vessels suspected of piracy. The statute bolsters India's legal response to threats in its maritime domain.

Building on advancements in satellite technology, the Indian Navy has effectively employed ISRO's capabilities to strengthen communication across the Indian Ocean. The Rukmini satellite, a seventh-generation geosynchronous satellite, provides coverage over 2,000 nautical miles, enabling real-time communication between warships, aircraft, submarines, and land-based systems. 82 Additionally, under the Quad's Indo-Pacific Partnership for Maritime Domain Awareness (IPMDA), the Navy is finalizing a deal with U.S.-based satellite operator Hawkeye 360, which uses a constellation of twenty-one satellites to provide global coverage.⁸³ This partnership will enable precise location tracking of data emissions, aiding in curbing illegal activities at sea.

Similarly, for enhanced maritime domain awareness, the Information Management and Analysis Centre (IMAC) was established in 2014 as the Navy's nodal information monitoring agency.⁸⁴ IMAC currently tracks vessels on the high seas using data from coastal radars, AIS transponders on merchant ships, air traffic management systems, white shipping agreements, and global shipping databases. Further, in 2018, the Information Fusion Centre - Indian Ocean Region (IFC-IOR) was established within the IMAC to coordinate with regional countries and serve as a repository of maritime data. 85 With partnerships spanning twenty-one countries and twenty-two multinational agencies, the IFC-IOR plays a pivotal role in fostering regional cooperation and improving maritime security. There are also plans to evolve the IMAC into a national maritime domain awareness centre that will enable seamless information exchange among fifteen agencies under seven ministries.86

To further improve coordination between multiple maritime security agencies, the Government of India appointed the first national maritime security coordinator (NMSC) under the national security advisor in 2022.87 The NMSC is responsible for ensuring coordination and seamless functioning among various agencies and stakeholders to protect India's extensive coastline and secure interests within its EEZ.

Regional Cooperation

Tackling IUU fishing requires a collaborative regional approach. At the regional level, the Indian Ocean Rim Association (IORA), established as an intergovernmental organization in 1997, has been focusing on IUU fishing as a growing challenge. 88 India also hosts the Indian Ocean Naval Symposium (IONS), a voluntary platform set up in 2008, for regional navies to discuss shared security challenges and develop coordinated responses.⁸⁹ Through seminars held in 2022 and 2024, the twenty-five member states assessed the scale of IUU fishing and emphasized the need for decisive actions to close legal loopholes.⁹⁰ These discussions have highlighted priorities such as capacity building and improving inspection mechanisms to strengthen regional efforts. Additionally, through bilateral agreements, like the White Shipping Agreements with most nations in the region, India works closely to collectively promote information sharing with respect to vessel movement, including those that may be involved in IUU fishing.

The Indian Ocean Tuna Commission (IOTC) of the FAO, of which India has been a member since 1996, has been overseeing the management of tuna fisheries in the region. However, effective management requires a deeper understanding of tuna migration patterns. Satellite-based tracking systems, electronic tagging, and vessel monitoring systems (VMS) are being deployed to track tuna movements and migration patterns. Cooperation between countries in the Indian Ocean will be essential to manage these highly mobile species effectively.

Way Forward and Suggestions

To further strengthen India's preparedness against IUU fishing in the IOR, a multi-pronged approach is outlined below for Indian policymakers to consider.

1. Establishing Presence in Deep-Sea Fishing

The first line of defense against foreign IUU fishing offenders are India's own fishermen. By establishing a strong and consistent presence in the Indian EEZ and IOR, India can harness its economic potential while also playing a critical role in monitoring and surveillance efforts. In this context, government initiatives promoting deep-sea fishing by domestic fishermen could be a step in the right direction. The National Marine Fisheries Policy 2020, building on the 2017 policy, prioritizes deep-sea fishing in offshore waters and areas beyond national jurisdiction (ABNJ).91 Similarly, the draft Marine Fisheries Bill 2021 emphasizes responsible fishing in the high seas.⁹² It proposes measures such as mandatory licensing for Indian vessels fishing beyond territorial waters and a ban on foreign fishing vessels in Indian waters, among other steps. However, the bill has not been passed thus far due to significant opposition from various stakeholders. The government needs to complete the consultation process and finalize the regime to ensure better regulation of deep-sea fishing within the Indian EEZ.

Separately, the government aims to help traditional fishermen transition to deep-sea fishing and also plans to provide deep-sea fishing vessels under the Sagarmala project's coastal community development plan.⁹³ However, a balance must be struck between addressing fishermen's concerns and maximizing the opportunities within the EEZ.94

2. Greater Use of LEO-based Satellites for Monitoring and Surveillance

Given the vast and dynamic nature of the ocean and advancements in space technologies, it is now possible to plug gaps in monitoring vessel movements, including those involved in IUU fishing. Traditional surveillance methods primarily rely on geostationary (GEO) satellites, which maintain a fixed position relative to the Earth's surface, providing imagery up to 10 meters. GEO satellites can be used to monitor specific areas, but their limited range necessitates the deployment of multiple satellites for comprehensive coverage. This approach is not only cost-prohibitive but also allows fishing vessels to evade detection by moving out of the satellite's coverage zones.

To address these limitations, low Earth orbit (LEO) satellites present a transformative solution. Orbiting at altitudes below 2,000 kilometers, LEO satellites offer global coverage with shorter revisit times at sub-metre resolutions, enabling near real-time tracking of vessel movements.⁹⁵ Their ability to monitor large swaths of the ocean, combined with advancements in synthetic aperture radar (SAR) and electro-optical imaging, ensures that even

small, unregistered fishing vessels can be detected, irrespective of weather conditions or the time of day. This could also be effective against vessels that disable their AIS transponders using real-time image processing and artificial intelligence-based analytics.

Moreover, integrating LEO satellite data with AIS and other vessel tracking technologies enhances situational awareness. The European Space Agency's Copernicus Programme and the SeaVision tool are already demonstrating the potential of combining satellite imagery with AI-driven analytics to detect and deter IUU fishing activities. 6 By adopting a multi-satellite constellation approach that incorporates both GEO and LEO systems, India should work toward establishing an effective maritime monitoring framework. This will ensure robust surveillance of its EEZ and adjoining areas, which have a direct influence on its marine environment. Phase 3 of India's Space-Based Surveillance (SBS-III) program plans to put fifty-two LEO satellites in orbit and could be leveraged for this purpose. 97 This LEO satellite system, built by IN-SPACe with private sector participation, will greatly enhance India's ability to regularly monitor its EEZ. Coastal states can leverage these satellites to protect the interests of legitimate fishers and prevent illegal fishing attempts. Notably, state governments of Tamil Nadu, Gujarat, and Kerala have already come out with space policies and are making efforts for engaging space-based assets for developmental purposes. Preventing illegal fishing can be a big part of the same.

Brazil's Blue Amazon Management System uses a combination of satellites, radar, drones, naval vessels, and submarines to provide surveillance for more than 4,600 miles along the continent's coastline.98 Given India's vibrant drone industry ecosystem, drones could be strategically deployed to track and monitor vessels suspected of illegal activities, leveraging their ability to provide real-time pursuit following initial satellite detection.

To further bolster the IFC-IOR's capabilities, India could look to replicate the IFC Real-Time Information-Sharing System (IRIS), an advanced maritime surveillance system designed to enhance maritime domain awareness, already in use at the Changi Command and Control Centre, an IFC hosted by the Singaporean Navy. 99 By integrating multiple data sources such as AIS, long-range identification and tracking (LRIT), satellites, coastal radar, and drones, IRIS will provide real-time vessel tracking and monitoring. Utilizing sophisticated AI and machine learning algorithms, the system will analyse vessel movements, detecting anomalies and identifying unauthorized activities like illegal fishing and smuggling through pattern recognition and behavioural analysis.

3. Building International Partnerships and Strengthening Regional Cooperation

Given the global scale of the IUU fishing challenge, it is crucial for India to collaborate with like-minded partners committed to preserving the openness of the world's oceans and promoting security in the Indo-Pacific region. In recent years, the United States has demonstrated a strong commitment to combating IUU fishing globally. Its 2022 Indo-Pacific

Strategy outlined a vision for a "free, open, connected, prosperous, secure, and resilient" region, emphasizing partnerships to advance this goal.¹⁰⁰ The U.S. Coast Guard had earlier recognized IUU fishing as a major maritime security threat, releasing a joint strategy to counter it.¹⁰¹ This effort culminated in the National Security Memorandum on Combating IUU Fishing and Associated Labor Abuses, signed by then U.S. president Joe Biden, which led to the National 5-Year Strategy on Combatting IUU Fishing. 102 The strategy fosters inter-agency cooperation to prevent illegally caught seafood from entering commercial markets and encourages partnerships with priority regions, including the Caribbean, Africa, Southeast Asia, and the Pacific Islands. The strategy fosters inter-agency cooperation to prevent illegally caught seafood from entering commercial markets and encourages partnerships with priority regions, including the Caribbean, Africa, Southeast Asia, and the Pacific Islands.

The United States has also worked with countries like Ecuador, Panama, Senegal, Taiwan, and Vietnam to provide operational intelligence on over 100 fishing vessels to support enforcement efforts. 103 It has also focused on strengthening governance through RFMOs and promoting fishing risk assessments.

While the new U.S. administration under Donald Trump has continued its strategic focus on the Indo-Pacific, forging deeper cooperation with it on countering IUU fishing may prove challenging.¹⁰⁴ Recent developments underscore this complexity. First, although China's maritime dominance remains a central concern, the U.S. appears more inclined towards projecting strength independently rather than through institutional cooperation.¹⁰⁵ This preference for unilateral strategic posturing over multilateral approaches could be particularly challenging for combating IUU fishing, given its global nature.

Second, recent policy decisions affecting U.S. ocean governance raise doubts about the administration's commitment to addressing IUU fishing as a security priority.¹⁰⁶ Budget and personnel cuts at the NOAA, coupled with reduced U.S. participation in global ocean sustainability forums, suggest a de-prioritization of environmental and conservation diplomacy, which is crucial to tackling IUU fishing comprehensively.¹⁰⁷

Against this backdrop, India will need to take a more proactive role in advocating for enhanced focus on IUU fishing by leveraging shared security interests within the Indo-Pacific, even as efforts to improve maritime domain awareness continue.

This also highlights the need for India to strengthen cooperation with regional partners. Efforts to sign white shipping agreements should be expanded to cover nations that have yet to conclude these agreements. Besides, efforts to enter grey shipping agreements should be initiated with friendly coastal states of the region.

For high seas within the IOR, India may continue to take greater responsibility by assuming a leadership role and fostering close cooperation with littoral and partner nations to strengthen monitoring, information sharing, and joint efforts to prevent IUU fishing. Since many coastal states in the region do not have the domestic capability to monitor vessels in the region, India could consider expanding its satellite capabilities to help them monitor their EEZs in other parts of the IOR once its own LEO capabilities are expanded. The IMAC can share data on IUU activities with friendly littoral states, ensuring coordinated action when such violations occur in their waters.

4. International Agreements

There are three main binding agreements under UNCLOS: the PSMA, which was adopted by the FAO in 2009 for regulating port access to fishing vessels involved in IUU; the UN Fish Stock Agreement (UNFSA) which promotes cooperation among States to manage fish which migrate across EEZs and into the high seas; and, most recently in 2023, the Agreement on Marine Biological Diversity of Areas Beyond National Jurisdiction (BBNJ).¹⁰⁸ Having endorsed the BBNJ, India aligns itself with global efforts to protect marine biodiversity on the high seas, ensuring the fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising from marine genetic resources and contributing to the sustainable governance of the world's oceans.¹⁰⁹ India should now review its position on the PSMA and UNFSA and become a more active international player in the fight against IUU fishing.

Secondly, while the IOTC focuses on the sustainable exploitation of tuna, there is a need for greater attention to squid stocks as well. Squid are a major part of the diet of yellowfin tuna and swordfish, which are economically important species for fisheries. Overexploitation of squid can disrupt this food chain and affect the health of the tuna population and other commercial fish stocks. Considered a delicacy in many parts of the world, squid is also an essential bait in longline tuna fishing. The squid industry provides economic benefits to Indian coastal communities, with millions of people depending on the catch for livelihoods. In the Western Indian Ocean, squid populations have been impacted by overfishing. 110 Despite being a highly prized species, squid fisheries are managed by only two RFMOs globally, both in the Pacific.¹¹¹ The alarming rise in large-scale IUU fishing for squid off the coast of Oman underscores the urgent need for regional action. 112 India must lead efforts to establish RFMO-managed squid fisheries to prevent overexploitation and ecological damage, and lead an agenda for greater focus on squid fishing in the region within the IOTC.

Furthermore, global partnerships like the Quad, which already share a common goal of securing the Indo-Pacific, must put up a joint front against IUU fishing. In this regard, the announcement by the Quad countries of inaugurating a joint patrol by coastguards of all members to combat IUU fishing is a welcome step. 113 The Indo-Pacific Partnership for Maritime Domain Awareness, a Quad initiative launched in 2022, should also look to collaborate against IUU fishing. An information-sharing system on identified IUU vessels by member states would be beneficial for all. Combined with interoperability through joint naval exercises, this collaboration would enable quick action against identified vessels and create a stronger unified force against IUU fishing.

Conclusion

IUU fishing poses a growing threat to oceans globally, with several incidents in Southeast Asia and Africa highlighting the ease with which IUU vessels infiltrate EEZs, creating significant security risks. For India, the stakes are even higher, given its strategic location in the Indian Ocean and the escalating economic and ecological damage caused by Chinese fishing vessels along its coastlines.

To safeguard its marine resources, India must adopt a comprehensive strategy that enhances domestic capabilities to fully utilize its EEZ, strengthens coastal surveillance and monitoring systems, and leverages international agreements and partnerships to rally regional and global support. The urgency to act is clear—India must decisively secure both its EEZ and the broader IOR from the mounting threat of IUU fishing.

About the Authors

Ajay Kumar is a former nonresident senior fellow at Carnegie India and is currently the chairman of the Union Public Service Commission. He served as the defense secretary of India between August 2019 and October 2022 and is the longest-serving secretary in the Ministry of Defence, where he was also secretary in the Department of Defence Production.

As defense secretary, Kumar was the key architect for several major transformations, including the restructuring of higher defense management in the country, the formation of the chief of defense staff in the Indian Armed Forces, and the launch of Agniveer scheme—a historic reform in recruitment, training, and retention of personnel in the Armed Forces. He was among the key decision-makers who successfully managed the tense stand-off on the Indo-China Line of Actual Control resulting from the Galwan incident of 2020.

Charukeshi Bhatt is a research assistant with the Technology and Society program at Carnegie India, where she was formerly a Young Ambassador.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge and thank Gia Mukherjee for her research support.

Notes

- "India's statement delivered by Ambassador & PR at the HOD+1 level meeting of the NGR on fisheries subsidies negotiations held on 20 November 2020," Permanent Mission of India in Geneva, accessed May 19, 2025, https://pmindiaun.gov.in/statements/MjMOOA.
- 2. Anurag Bisen, "China and IUU Fishing in IOR: Need for India to Lead Mitigation Efforts," Vivekananda International Foundation, April 11, 2024, https://www.vifindia.org/article/2024/april/11/ China-and-IUU-Fishing-in-IOR-Need-for-India-to-Lead-Mitigation-Efforts.
- 3. "Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated (IUU) fishing," Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, accessed May 19, 2025, https://www.fao.org/iuu-fishing/background/what-is-iuu-fishing/en/; "Illegal, Unreported, and Unregulated (IUU) Fishing," International Maritime Organization, accessed May 19, 2025, https://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/IIIS/Pages/IUU-FISHING.aspx; "Understanding Illegal, Unreported, and Unregulated Fishing," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, accessed May 19, 2025, https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/insight/understanding-illegal-unreported-and-unregulated-fishing.
- 4. U. R. Sumaila et al., "Illicit Trade in Marine Fish Catch and Its Effects on Ecosystems and People Worldwide," *Science Advances* 6, no. 9 (February 27, 2020), https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaz3801.
- 5. Alfonso Daniels, Matti Kohonen, Nicolas Gutman, and Mariama Thiam, Fishy Networks: Uncovering the Companies and Individuals Behind Illegal Fishing Globally, (Financial Transparency Coalition, October 2022), https://financialtransparency.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/FTC-fishy-Network-OCT-2022-Final.pdf.
- 6. "FAQ: Illegal, Unreported, and Unregulated Fishing," Pew, August 27, 2013, https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/fact-sheets/2013/08/27/faq-illegal-unreported-and-unregulated-fishing.
- 7. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Department, *The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture*, (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United States, 2012), p. 59, https://openknowledge.fao.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/59aabfb5-bb0b-4aad-bfa2-941601615023/content.
- 8. "Six West African Countries Account for 20% of World's Illegally Caught Fish," *Africa Defense Forum*, March 14, 2023, https://adf-magazine.com/2023/03/six-west-african-countries-account-for-20-of-worlds-illegally-caught-fish/; Steven Lee Myers, Agnes Chang, Derek Watkins, and Claire Fu, "How China Targets the Global Fish Supply," *The New York Times*, September 26, 2022, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2022/09/26/world/asia/china-fishing-south-america.html.
- 9. Ibid.
- 10. Miren Gutiérrez et al., *China's Distant-Water Fishing Fleet: Scale, Impact and Governance,* (Overseas Development Institute, June 2020), https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.19265.17762.

- 11. Alfonso Daniels, Matti Kohonen, Nicolas Gutman, and Mariama Thiam, Fishy Networks: Uncovering the Companies and Individuals Behind Illegal Fishing Globally.
- 12. Kent Harrington, "Commentary: South China Sea May Run Out of Fish at This Rate of Overfishing," CNA, February 5, 2022, https://www.channelnewsasia.com/commentary/ south-china-sea-china-environmental-ecological-damage-coral-reefs-overfishing-international-law-2469871.
- 13. Dinakar Peri, "Extra-regional Fishing Fleets Present in Indian Ocean: Navy," The Hindu, November 14, 2022, https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/extra-regional-fishing-fleets-present-in-indian-ocean-navy/ article66131872.ece.
- 14. Matthew P. Funaiole, Brian Hart, and Aidan Powers-Riggs, "Surveying the Seas: China's Dual-Use Research Operations in the Indian Ocean," Center for Strategic & International Studies, January 10, 2024, https:// www.csis.org/analysis/surveying-seas-chinas-dual-use-research-operations-indian-ocean.
- 15. Vijay Sakhuja, "China Expands Its Maritime Footprint in the Indian Ocean Through Its Fishing Fleet," Defstrat, January 25, 2021, https://www.defstrat.com/magazine_articles/ china-expands-its-maritime-footprint-in-the-indian-ocean-through-its-fishing-fleet/.
- 16. Rajat Pandit, "Navy Monitoring Entry of Another Chinese 'research' Vessel Into Indian Ocean Region," The Times of India, March 22, 2024, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/ navy-monitoring-entry-of-another-chinese-research-vessel-into-indian-ocean-region/articleshow/108717850.cms; Shivani Sharma, "Chinese Ships Spotted in Arabian Sea Again, This Time for 'Fisheries Research'," India Today, February 4, 2025, https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/ chinese-ships-indian-ocean-region-arabian-sea-fisheries-research-maritime-surveillance-2674901-2025-02-04.
- 17. PTI, "China Develops Underwater Surveillance Networks in Indian Ocean, South China Sea," The Economic Times, January 1, 2018, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/china-develops-underwater-surveillance-networks-in-indian-ocean-south-china-sea/articleshow/62326410.cms?from=mdr.
- 18. Zhang Hongzhou, Averting Asia's Fishing Crisis: China's Fishing Policies Need to be Reformed, (Institute of Defence and Strategic Studies, and S. Rajaratnam School of International Studies, April 2015) https://www. rsis.edu.sg/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/PR150602 Averting-the-Fishing-Crisis.pdf.
- 19. Patrick M. Cronin and Ryan D. Neuhard, "Countering China's Laser Offensive," The Diplomat, April 2, 2020, https://thediplomat.com/2020/04/countering-chinas-laser-offensive/; Anmol Singla, "China's shadow armada: The unseen power of the maritime militia in the South China Sea," Firstpost, June 13, 2024, https:// www.firstpost.com/explainers/chinas-shadow-armada-the-unseen-power-of-the-maritime-militia-in-thesouth-china-sea-13782140.html.
- 20. Zachary Haver, "China's Civilian Fishing Fleets Are Still Weapons of Territorial Control," Center For Advanced China Research, March 27, 2021, https://www.ccpwatch.org/single-post/ china-s-civilian-fishing-fleets-are-still-weapons-of-territorial-control.
- 21. Nathan Strout, "Philippines Accuses China of Harassing, Sideswiping Its Fisheries Vessels," SeafoodSource, October 21, 2024, https://www.seafoodsource.com/news/supply-trade/ philippines-accuses-china-of-harassing-sideswiping-its-fisheries-vessels.
- 22. Miren Gutiérrez et al., China's Distant-Water Fishing Fleet: Scale, Impact and Governance; Shivam Kumar Pandey, "IUU Fishing and Maritime Threat: A Rise in Transnational Maritime Non-Traditional Threat to Security With Particular Reference to the Indian Ocean," Rashtriya Raksha University, International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR) 12, no. 4 (April 2023), https://www.ijsr.net/archive/v12i4/SR23425183314. pdf.
- 23. Bidisha Saha, "Explained: Why Chinese Ships Loiter in Indian Ocean Region," India Today, August 21, 2024, https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/ chinese-ships-in-india-ocean-region-ladakh-standoff-india-china-relations-2585927-2024-08-21.
- 24. Rajni Gamage and Isha Gupta, "Resolution of the India-Sri Lanka Maritime Border Conflict and Fisheries Dispute," ISAS Working Papers No. 369, National University of Singapore, Institute of South Asian Studies, August 23, 2023, https://www.isas.nus.edu.sg/papers/resolution-of-the-india-sri-lanka-maritime-border-conflict-and-fisheries-dispute/; "Watch | Where Is Sir Creek and Why Is It Disputed?," The Hindu, May 31, 2022, https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/watch-where-is-sir-creek-and-why-is-it-disputed/ article65476724.ece.

- 25. "Indian Government Taking up T.N. Fishermen Issue With Pakistan, Says Jaishankar," The Hindu, December 12, 2024, https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/tamil-nadu/indian-government-taking-up-tn-fishermen-issue-with-pakistan-says-jaishankar/article68976555.ece.
- Tarushi Aswani, "Jailed for Fishing: India-Pakistan Tensions Trap Families in Debt, Poverty," Al Jazeera, April 21, 2025, https://www.aljazeera.com/features/2025/4/21/ jailed-for-fishing-india-pakistan-tensions-trap-families-in-debt-poverty.
- 27. Dipanjan Roy Chaudhury, "China Fishing for anti-India Sentiment in Lankan Waters," The Economic Times, March 21, 2025, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/international/world-news/china-fishing-for-anti-india-sentiment-in-lankan-waters/articleshow/119268218.cms?from=mdr.
- Chulanee Attanayake, "Sri Lanka Caught in the Crossfire of India-China Maritime Rivalry," East Asia Forum, September 19, 2024, https://eastasiaforum.org/2024/09/19/ sri-lanka-caught-in-the-crossfire-of-india-china-maritime-rivalry/.
- 29. Tide of Injustice: Exploitation and Illegal Fishing on Chinese Vessels in the Southwest Indian Ocean, (Environmental Justice Foundation, April 2024), https://ejfoundation.org/resources/downloads/Tide-of-Injustice-SWIO-report.pdf.
- "Illegal Fishing Emerges as Africa's Main Maritime Security Threat," Africa Defense Forum, January 5, 2022, https://adf-magazine.com/2022/01/illegal-fishing-emerges-as-africas-main-maritime-security-threat/.
- 31. Jay Bahadur, Fishy Business: Illegal Fishing in Somalia and the Capture of State Institutions, (Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime, June 2021), https://globalinitiative.net/analysis/illegal-fishing-somalia/; Anthony Kitimo, "Pirates Hold Chinese Vessel, 18 Crew in Somalia Waters," The EastAfrican, December 5, 2024, https://www.theeastafrican.co.ke/tea/news/east-africa/ pirates-hold-chinese-vessel-crew-in-somalia-waters-4847442.
- 32. "AIS Transponders," International Maritime Organization, accessed June 10, 2025, https://www.imo. org/en/OurWork/Safety/Pages/AIS.aspx; The International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS), adopted in 1974 and maintained by the International Maritime Organization, sets minimum safety standards for the construction, equipment, and operation of ships, including requirements for the continuous operation of automatic identification systems (AIS) on certain vessels. For more information, see International Maritime Organization, "International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS), 1974," accessed June 10, 2025, https://www.imo.org/en/About/Conventions/Pages/International-Convention-for-the-Safety-of-Life-at-Sea-(SOLAS),-1974.aspx.
- 33. Koh Swee Lean Collin, "China's 'Sea Phantom' Fleet Prowls the Open Waters," The National Interest, February 4, 2016, https://nationalinterest.org/feature/ chinas-sea-phantom-fleet-prowls-the-open-waters-15105.
- 34. "Industrial Fleets Operating in the Indian Ocean Turn Off Monitoring Systems, Fail Reporting Obligations," SeaAroundUs, June 25, 2024, https://www.seaaroundus.org/ industrial-fleets-operating-indian-ocean-turn-off-monitoring-systems-fail-reporting-obligations/.
- 35. "Taiwan Identifies 52 'suspicious' Chinese Ships for Close Monitoring," France 24, January 27, 2025, https://www.france24.com/en/ live-news/20250127-taiwan-identifies-52-suspicious-chinese-ships-for-close-monitoring.
- 36. A flag State is the nation under whose jurisdiction a vessel is registered, giving it exclusive authority to regulate and enforce laws on that vessel in international waters. For more information, see "How to End Illegal Fishing: The Role of the Flag State," The Pew Charitable Trusts, August 6, 2019, https://www.pew. org/en/research-and-analysis/fact-sheets/2019/08/how-to-end-illegal-fishing-the-role-of-the-flag-state#.
- 37. Paolo Cappa et al., "Estimating Fisheries Catch From Space: Comparing Catch Estimates Derived From AIS Fishing Effort With Reported Catches for Indian Ocean Industrial Fisheries," Regional Studies in Marine Science 77 (June 21, 2024): 103632, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rsma.2024.103632.
- 38. United Nations, United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, 1982, https://www.un.org/depts/los/ convention agreements/texts/unclos/unclos e.pdf.
- United Nations, United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, Art 87, 116, 1982.
- 40. United Nations, United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, Art 55-62, 1982.

- 41. International Maritime Organization, *Implications of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea for the International Maritime Organization*, Art 94, 197, and 213, January 30, 2014, https://www.cdn.imo.org/localresources/en/OurWork/Legal/Documents/LEG%20MISC%208.pdf.
- 42. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Agreement to Promote Compliance with International Conservation and Management Measures by Fishing Vessels on the High Seas (Rome: FAO, 1995), https://openknowledge.fao.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/2ebae50e-749b-487d-8dcf-cc9ba5850191/content; United Nations General Assembly, Agreement for the Implementation of the Provisions of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 Relating to the Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish Stocks and Highly Migratory Fish Stocks, (New York: United Nations, 1995), https://www.un.org/oceancapacity/sites/www.un.org.oceancapacity/files/files/Projects/UNFSA/docs/unfsa_text-eng.pdf; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, International Plan of Action to Prevent, Deter and Eliminate Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated Fishing (Rome: FAO, 2001), https://openknowledge.fao.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/a80c3bfb-1d5b-4ee6-9c85-54b7e83986a2/content; "Agreement on Port State Measures (PMSA)," Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, accessed June 10, 2025, https://www.fao.org/port-state-measures/en/.
- 43. Glossary, United Nations Treaty Collection, accessed June 18, 2025, https://treaties.un.org/pages/overview.aspx?path=overview/glossary/page1_en.xml.
- 44. Andres Serdy, "UNCLOS: fit for purpose in the 21st century?," UK Parliament, November 1, 2021, https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/40693/html/.
- Alexander Richter, "Deterring China's Salami Tactics," Centre for Maritime Strategy, August 8, 2024, https://centerformaritimestrategy.org/publications/south-china-sea-deterrence-project/.
- United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (Enforced November 16, 1994), https://treaties.un.org/doc/Publication/MTDSG/Volume%20II/Chapter%20XXI/XXI-6.en.pdf.
- 47. Yuchen Li and Chia-Chun Yeh, "Chinese Fishing Fleets in Indian Ocean Accused of Abuses," *DW*, May 5, 2024, https://www.dw.com/en/chinese-fishing-fleets-in-indian-ocean-accused-of-abuses/a-68977775.
- 48. "Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated Fishing," International Maritime Organization, accessed June 10, 2025, https://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/IIIS/Pages/IUU-FISHING.aspx.
- 49. Badri Chatterjee, "In troubled waters: 10 Chinese vessels found fishing illegally in Maharashtra," *Hindustan Times*, June 20, 2019, https://www.hindustantimes.com/mumbai-news/in-troubled-waters-10-chinese-vessels-found-fishing-illegally-in-maharashtra/story-FigOPCnmT3o0xuSDeqFjvN.html.
- 50. A port state is any state that a vessel visits outside its flag state. For more information on port states and port state control, see "Port State Control," Directorate General of Shipping, Ministry of Ports, Shipping and Waterways, Government of India, accessed on June 5, 2025, https://www.dgshipping.gov.in/Content/PageUrl.aspx?page_name=ShipManualChap13.
- 51. Port State Control of Foreign Fishing Vessels, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, (Rome, 2003), https://www.fao.org/4/y8387e/y8387e00.htm#Contents.
- 52. Port State Control & Flag State Inspection Annual Report 2023, p. 17, (Directorate General of Shipping, 2023), https://www.dgshipping.gov.in/WriteReadData/userfiles/file/PSC-FSI%20ANNUAL%20REPORT%202023.pdf
- 53. Nicholas D. Nimley, "Liberia to strengthen maritime cooperation with China," *ChinaDaily*, March 15, 2024, https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202403/15/WS65f448e4a31082fc043bcee8.html.
- 54. Lee Hong Liang, "Liberian Registry conducts first ever remote flag inspection," *Seatrade Maritime News*, April 6, 2020, https://www.seatrade-maritime.com/regulations/liberian-registry-conducts-first-ever-remote-flag-inspection
- 55. United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, Part VII, Section 1, Article 118, United Nations, https://www.un.org/depts/los/convention_agreements/texts/unclos/unclos_e.pdf.
- 56. "FAQ: What is a Regional Fishery Management Organization?," Pew, February 23, 2012, https://www.pew.org/en/research-and-analysis/fact-sheets/2012/02/23/faq-what-is-a-regional-fishery-management-organization; United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, United Nations.

- 57. Stefán Ásmundsson, "Regional Fisheries Management Organisations (RFMOs): Who are they, what is their geographic coverage on the high seas and which ones should be considered as General RFMOs, Tuna RFMOs and Specialised RFMOs?," Convention on Biological Diversity, accessed June 10, 2016, https:// www.cbd.int/doc/meetings/mar/soiom-2016-01/other/soiom-2016-01-fao-19-en.pdf.
- "FAQ: What is a Regional Fishery Management Organization?," Pew.
- 59. Glen Holmes and Dave Gershman, "In Western and Central Pacific Ocean, Fisheries Managers Must Step Up," Pew, November 19, 2024, https://www.pew.org/en/research-and-analysis/articles/2024/11/19/ in-western-and-central-pacific-ocean-fisheries-managers-must-step-up.
- 60. Ibid.
- 61. Proposed Restricted-Fishing Days in the Atlantic Bluefin Tuna Fishery for Parts of 2023 and 2024, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, issued March 3, 2023, https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/action/ proposed-restricted-fishing-days-atlantic-bluefin-tuna-fishery-parts-2023-and-2024.
- "22-day ban on hilsa fishing begins tomorrow," The Business Standard, October 12, 2024, https://www. tbsnews.net/bangladesh/22-day-ban-hilsa-fishing-begins-tomorrow-964701.
- 63. Sean Mantesso, "China's 'dark" fishing fleets are plundering the world's oceans," ABC News, December 19, 2020, https://www.abc.net.au/news/2020-12-19/how-china-is-plundering-the-worlds-oceans/12971422.
- "Participation in Tuna RFMOs, UNFSA and PSMA," International Seafood Sustainability Foundation, ac $cessed\ June\ 10,\ 2025,\ \underline{https://www.iss-foundation.org/tuna-stocks-and-management/fisheries-management/fishe$ regional-fisheries-management-organizations-rfmos/participation-in-tuna-rfmos-unfsa-and-psma/.
- 65. Cliff White, "China blocks SPRFMO from placing two of its vessels on IUU blacklist," SeafoodSource, March 6, 2023, https://www.seafoodsource.com/news/premium/environment-sustainability/ china-blocks-sprfmo-from-placing-two-of-its-vessels-on-iuu-blacklist
- "Agreement on Port State Measures (PSMA)," Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, accessed June 18, 2025, https://www.fao.org/port-state-measures/en/.
- "Survey of the EEZ," National Centre for Polar and Ocean Research, accessed June 10, 2025, https://ncpor. res.in/pages/researchview/7.
- 68. P. S. B. R. James, "Deep Sea Fishing in the Exclusive Economic Zone of India: Resources, performance and new approaches to development," In Marine Biology, edited by S. A. H. Abidi and V. C. Srivastava, 100-123. Allahabad: The National Academy of Sciences, India, 2014, https://eprints.cmfri.org.in/10332/.
- "Blue Revolution," Department of Fisheries, Government of India, https://dof.gov.in/blue-revolution?.
- 70. Ministry of Fisheries, Animal Husbandry & Dairying, "Fisheries and Aquaculture Infrastructure Development Fund," Press Information Bureau, December 12, 2023, https://www.pib.gov.in/ PressReleaseIframePage.aspx?PRID=1985343.
- 71. T. M. Najmudeen, "Overview of Marine Fisheries of India," ICAR-Central Marine Fisheries Research Institute, December 2023, http://eprints.cmfri.org.in/17860/1/AARDO 2023 T%20M%20Najmudeen.
- 72. Vishwa Mohan, "AIS transponders now made must for all fishing vessels," The Times of India, July 12, 2009, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/ais-transponders-now-made-must-for-all-fishing-vessels/articleshow/4767112.cms.
- 73. "India increases Naval might as it inducts three new war vessels: Know Details," *The Times of India*, January 15, 2025, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/india-increases-naval-might-as-it-inducts-three-newwar-vessels-know-details/articleshow/117271780.cms; ANI, "Indian Coast Guard poised to achieve its target force levels of 200 surface platforms and 100 aircrafts by 2030," The Economic Times, January 31, 2025, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/indian-coast-guard-poised-to-achieve-its-target-forcelevels-of-200-surface-platforms-and-100-aircraft-by-2030/articleshow/117790435.cms?from=mdr; Ministry of Defence, "Ministry of Defense - Year End Review 2023," Press Information Bureau, December 22, 2023, https://www.pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1989502.
- 74. "Centre to provide 3.5 lakh free transponders made by ISRO to fishermen for security, business promotion," The Economic Times, May 27, 2023, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/india/

- centre-to-provide-3-5-lakh-free-transponders-made-by-isro-to-fishermen-for-security-business-promotion/ articleshow/100553611.cms?from=mdr; Ministry of Fisheries, Animal Husbandry & Dairying, "Indigenous Transponders Become Lifeline for Fishermen During Cyclone DANA," Press Information Bureau, October 29, 2024, https://www.pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=2069157.
- 75. Navamy Sudhish, "Chinese gadgets in trawlers trigger a set of issues," The Hindu, August 7, 2021, https:// $\underline{www.thehindu.com/news/national/kerala/chinese-gadgets-in-fishing-vessels-trigger-a-set-of-problems/linese-gadgets-a-set-of-problems/linese-gadgets-a-set-of-problems/linese-gadgets-a-set-of-problems/linese-gadgets-a-set-of-problems/linese-gadgets-a-set-of-problems/linese-gadgets-a-set-of-problems/lines$ article35785932.ece.
- 76. "Fisheries Infrastructure," Marine Products Export Development Authority, accessed June 17, 2025, https:// mpeda.gov.in/?page_id=583.
- 77. Vishwa Mohan, "PM Modi's speech puts focus on transponders on marine fishing boats," The Times of India, January 19, 2025, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/pm-modis-speech-puts-focus-on-transponders-on-marine-fishing-boats/articleshow/117363174.cms.
- 78. Ministry of Home Affairs, "Measures to strengthen coastal security put on fast track," Press Information Bureau, January 21, 2010, https://www.pib.gov.in/newsite/erelcontent.aspx?relid=57167.
- Maritime Zones of India (Regulation of Fishing by Foreign Vessels) Act, 1981, Act No. 42 of 1981, (Enforced September 28, 1981), https://faolex.fao.org/docs/pdf/IND171176.pdf.
- The Coast Guard Act, 1978, (Enforced August 19, 1978), https://indiancoastguard.gov.in/sites/default/files/ CoastGuardAct 1978(1).pdf.
- 81. The Maritime Anti-Piracy Act, 2022, Act No. 3 of 2022, (Enforced January 31, 2023), https://www. indiacode.nic.in/bitstream/123456789/19621/1/a2023-03.pdf.
- "What is GSAT-7 Rukmini," The Indian Express, July 5, 2017, https://indianexpress.com/article/what-is/ india-rukmini-gsat-7-satellite-china-indian-ocean-region-sikkim-standoff-4736318/.
- "Indian Navy Eyes Strategic Partnership with HawkEye 360 for Enhanced Maritime Domain Awareness in the Indo-Pacific," Indian Defence Research Wing, September 2, 2024, https://idrw.org/indian-navy-eyes-strategic-partnership-with-hawkeye-360-for-enhanced-maritime-domain-awareness-in-the-indo-pacific/.
- 84. Rajat Pandit, "Naval Intelligence Network Launch Tomorrow," The Times of India, November 22, 2014, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/naval-intelligence-network-launch-tomorrow/articleshow/45237364.cms.
- 85. Ministry of Defence, "Raksha Mantri Inaugurates Information Fusion Centre Indian Ocean Region (IFC-IOR)," Press Information Bureau, December 22, 2018, https://www.pib.gov.in/newsite/PrintRelease. aspx?relid=186757.
- 86. Dinakar Peri, "National Maritime Domain Awareness centre to be ready in three years," The Hindu, January 2, 2024, https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/national-maritime-domain-awareness-centre-to-beready-in-three-years/article67698773.ece.
- 87. Krishn Kaushik, "First coordinator for national maritime security appointed, to report to NSA," The Indian Express, February 17, 2022, https://indianexpress.com/article/india/ ashok-kumar-first-coordinator-for-national-maritime-security-appointed-7777016/.
- 88. Indian Ocean Rim Association, accessed June 10, 2025, https://www.iora.int/indian-ocean-rim-association.
- "Indian Ocean Naval Symposium holds maiden maritime exercise," The Hindu, March 30, 2022, https:// www.thehindu.com/news/national/indian-ocean-naval-symposium-holds-maiden-maritime-exercise/article65274711.ece.
- Ministry of Defence, "Indian Ocean Rim Association Seminar," Press Information Bureau, September 24, 2024, https://www.pib.gov.in/PressReleaseIframePage.aspx?PRID=2059304#.
- 91. National Fisheries Policy (Sixth Draft for Consideration), December 30, 2020, Department of Fisheries, Government of India, https://dof.gov.in/sites/default/files/2020-12/Policy_0.pdf.
- 92. Draft Indian Marine Fisheries Bill 2021, Department of Fisheries, Government of India, https://dof.gov.in/ sites/default/files/2021-10/Draft Indian Marine Fisheries Bill 2021.pdf.
- 93. Ministry of Fisheries, Animal Husbandry & Dairying, "Government committed to support traditional

- fishermen for deep-sea fishing: Dr L. Murugan," Press Information Bureau, November 22, 2023, https:// www.pib.gov.in/PressReleaseIframePage.aspx?PRID=1978788; Jyotika Sood and Utpal Bhaskar, "Fishermen may get deep sea vessels to go to exclusive economic zone," Mint, March 7, 2017, https://www.livemint. com/Politics/RM0YrFRzwzt5oidCwcy7tI/Fishermen-may-get-deep-sea-vessels-to-go-to-exclusive-econom. html.
- 94. "Fishermen write to NITI Aayog, raise concern over deep-sea fishing policy," The Hindu, June 24, 2004, https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/kerala/fishermen-write-to-niti-aayog-raise-concern-over-deep-seafishing-policy/article68327609.ece.
- 95. "Commercial Space Frequently Asked Questions," NASA, accessed June 10, 2025, https://www.nasa.gov/ humans-in-space/leo-economy-frequently-asked-questions/.
- "Introducing Copernicus," The European Space Agency, accessed June 10, 2025, https://www.esa.int/ Applications/Observing the Earth/Copernicus/Introducing Copernicus; "SeaVision: a web-based maritime situational awareness tool," United States Department of Transportation, accessed June 10, 20205, https:// info.seavision.volpe.dot.gov/.
- 97. Surendra Singh, "CCS approves launch of 52 spy-satellites for Rs. 27,000 crore to boost space surveillance," The Times of India, October 12, 2024, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/ccs-approves-launch-of-52spy-satellites-for-rs-27000-crore-to-boost-space-surveillance/articleshow/114158442.cms.
- 98. Nathan Thompson and Robert Muggah, "The Blue Amazon: Brazil Asserts Its Influence Across the Atlantic," Instituto Igarapé, June 2015, https://igarape.org.br/ the-blue-amazon-brazil-asserts-its-influence-across-the-atlantic/.
- 99. Information Fusion Centre Indian Ocean Region, accessed June 10, 2025, https://ifcior.indiannavy.gov. in/about us; "Fact Sheet on Information Fusion Centre (IFC) and Launch of IFC Real-Time Information-Sharing System (IRIS)", Ministry of Defence, Singapore, https://www.mindef.gov.sg/news-and-events/ latest-releases/14may19 fs.
- 100. Indo-Pacific Strategy of the United States, (The White House, February 2022), https://bidenwhitehouse. archives.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/U.S.-Indo-Pacific-Strategy.pdf.
- 101. "Illegal, Unregulated and Unreported Fishing," United States Coast Guard, accessed June 10, 2025, https:// www.uscg.mil/IUUFishing/.
- 102. "U.S. Efforts to Combat Illegal Fishing and Associated Labour Abuses," U.S. Department of State, December 13, 2024, https://2021-2025.state.gov/u-s-efforts-to-combat-illegal-fishing-and-associated-labor-abuses/; National 5-Year Strategy for Combatting Illegal, Unregulated and Unreported Fishing, (U.S. Interagency Working Group on IUU Fishing, 2022–2026), https://media.fisheries.noaa.gov/2022-10/2022 NationalStrategyReport USIWGonIUUfishing.pdf.
- 103. "U.S. Efforts to Combat Illegal Fishing and Associated Labour Abuses," U.S. Department of State.
- 104. "Indo-Pacific Strategy," United States Department of State, June 2, 2025, https://www.state.gov/ indo-pacific-strategy/.
- 105. The White House, "Restoring America's Maritime Dominance," April 10, 2025, https://www.whitehouse. gov/presidential-actions/2025/04/restoring-americas-maritime-dominance/.
- 106. Maya Yang, "Trump Order to Loosen Fishing Regulations Poses Major Risks, Experts Warn," The Guardian, April 27, 2025, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2025/apr/27/ trump-fishing-regulation-order-pacific-islands.
- 107. Edward Carver, "Sweeping Cuts and Deregulation Imperil U.S. Fisheries, Experts Warn," Mongabay Environmental News, April 21, 2025, https://news.mongabay.com/2025/04/sweeping-cuts-and-dereg- ulation-imperil-u-s-fisheries-experts-warn/; Edward Carver, "Under Trump, US Retreats From Global Fisheries and Oceans Leadership," Mongabay Environmental News, April 29, 2025, https://news.mongabay. com/2025/04/under-trump-us-retreats-from-global-fisheries-and-oceans-leadership/.
- 108. "Agreement on Marine Biological Diversity of Areas beyond National Jurisdiction," United Nations, accessed June 9, 2025, https://www.un.org/bbnjagreement/en.

- 109. Ministry of Earth Sciences, "Union Cabinet approves India's signing of the Biodiversity Beyond National Jurisdiction (BBNJ) Agreement," Press Information Bureau, July 8, 2024, https://www.pib.gov.in/ PressReleaseIframePage.aspx?PRID=2031611.
- 110. Chris Johnson, "Unregulated fishing in the Indian Ocean is putting food security and Ocean health at risk," WWF, accessed June 9, 2025, https://wwfwhales.org/news-stories/ blog-unregulated-fishing-in-the-indian-ocean.
- 111. Katherine L. Seto et al., "Fishing through the cracks: The unregulated nature of global squid fisheries," Science Advance, Vol. 9, Issue 10, (2023), https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciadv.add8125.
- 112. Paul Benecki, "Report: China's Squid Fishing Fleet Has Discovered the Indian Ocean," The Maritime Executive, November 2, 2020, https://maritime-executive.com/article/ report-china-s-squid-fishing-fleet-has-discovered-the-indian-ocean.
- 113. "Members of the Quad Plan Joint Coast Guard Patrol," The Maritime Executive, September 22, 2024, https://maritime-executive.com/article/members-of-the-quad-plan-first-joint-coast-guard-patrols.

Carnegie India

Carnegie India, founded in 2016 and based in New Delhi, is part of a robust global network that includes over 170 scholars. The center focuses primarily on three interrelated topics: technology and society, political economy, and security studies. Led by Indian experts with decades of policy experience, Carnegie India engages with governments, policymakers, academics, students, industries, practitioners, and civil society to provide insightful and fresh analysis on India's pressing challenges and its rising global role.

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace

In a complex, changing, and increasingly contested world, the Carnegie Endowment generates strategic ideas, supports diplomacy, and trains the next generation of international scholar-practitioners to help countries and institutions take on the most difficult global problems and advance peace. With a global network of more than 170 scholars across twenty countries, Carnegie is renowned for its independent analysis of major global problems and understanding of regional contexts.

